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Someone’s favorite movie

The must-have video game

That really cool song you heard 
on the radio

The perfect gift

The soundtrack for a road trip

A childhood memory

A home theatre escape

And more

In malls, on highways, at home, 
everywhere

We are the entertainment store of choice 
for millions of consumers

Trans World Entertainment
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An Exciting Year, A Solid Year, 
A Transition Year

2003 was an exciting year for Trans World
Entertainment. We continued to deliver and expand
our presence as a “total entertainment destination.”
We achieved solid gains in sales and earnings. We
seized new opportunities, including the acquisition 
of the Wherehouse Entertainment chain. 

In the midst of significant industry transition, 
our strategy is sound, our vision is focused. With
solid fundamentals, a strong store portfolio and 
more than 30 years of experience and knowledge, 
we will continue to grow entertainment media sales –
because, for millions of customers across the nation,
we are entertainment.

Sales Up, Earnings Up, Q4 Strong

In 2003, total sales climbed 4% to over $1.3 billion.
Net income was $23.1 million, including a 
$4.3 million extraordinary gain arising from the
newly-acquired stores.  

The year’s sales performance was fueled by a
strong fourth quarter. While we operated a greater
number of stores versus the same period last year
(881 stores at the end of 2003 versus 855 at the end
of 2002), total sales increased 12% and comparable
store sales increased a solid 4%. 

Our performance was further driven by growth in
DVD and an improving trend in music sales.

Underscoring this performance, our balance 
sheet remains solid. We have no long-term debt. 
Our Company is strong.

Music Improving, DVD Outstanding, 
Games An Opportunity

Taking a bigger-picture view of the categories that
impact our business, there is further positive news. 

The music industry is improving. The pace of
decline is slowing. While industry-wide music sales
were down 7.6% for the first half of the year, they
climbed 5.9% in the fourth quarter. Progress has 
been made in combating piracy. A recent study by 
the Recording Industry Artists’ Association indicates
that illegal download activity was reduced by 50% in
the period between spring and fall of 2003. 

Home video sales, fueled by DVD, are still growing
strong. DVD sales grew 33% in 2003, with sales
reaching $11.6 billion, an all-time high. The fourth
quarter for this category was tremendous – DVD 
unit sales were up 35% in Q4.

The video game industry was down from the 
previous year. However, it remains a key category 
in the retail entertainment industry, and will remain
a significant piece of our business. 

The growth and stabilization in these key 
categories bodes well for Trans World. As a leader 
in specialty entertainment retailing, we will have 
our share of this success.

New Acquisitions, Creative Approaches, 
Intelligent Business

Consolidation was again the trend in the specialty
entertainment industry – with key competitors being
sold, acquired and reorganized. With our resources
and leadership position, Trans World once again 
took advantage. 

In 2003, we further strengthened our store 
portfolio with the acquisition of the Wherehouse
Entertainment chain, adding approximately 100
units to our freestanding store portfolio. This 

Letter from the Chairman/CEO
Robert J. Higgins
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acquisition is a good fit for Trans World, both 
strategically and operationally, and offers several
advantages – including expanding our presence 
on the West Coast, particularly the Los Angeles 
market. The timing was likewise advantageous, as
sales in these stores contributed to our successful 
fourth quarter.

Beyond acquisitions, we created a range of 
marketing opportunities, increasing awareness
of our brands and expanding our reach beyond store
walls. To leverage our leadership position we formed
alliances and sponsorships by partnering with 
premier entertainment providers such as Clear
Channel Communications and MTV Networks.

In 2003, we continued to emphasize value, 
customer service and the in-store experience – 
to heighten consumer loyalty and increase share 
of the customer’s wallet. We also maintained 
our emphasis on good, intelligent business. 
We achieved a number of operational efficiencies 
and reduced our overhead. 

Leveraging, Launching, Continuing

As we look forward to 2004, our goals are to build 
on our strengths, to amplify our successes, and to 
seek new opportunities.

We will continue to leverage the strength of our
mall-based FYE (For Your Entertainment) stores and
our freestanding brands – strengthening our position
as the premier entertainment destination. 

At the same time, we will focus on the recently-
acquired stores to achieve Trans World standards 
of efficiency and performance.

Our stores are our customer’s primary touchpoint.
In 2004, we will launch the next generation of our
exclusive LVS (Listening and Viewing Stations) 

system – further expanding the functionality of this
interactive shopping and sampling tool, already
proven to increase sales per customer. The next 
generation of LVS will offer new ways to encourage
trial and exploration, communicate with customers
and drive sales.

Of course, technology is only part of the in-store
experience. We will also maintain our “best-in-class”
customer service along with outstanding breadth and
depth of product, two key points of differentiation.

To focus on our core business and maintain 
our emphasis on cost control, we will – beginning 
in August 2004 – outsource the 
operations of fye.com and our soon-
to-be launched site at coconuts.com.

We will continue to pursue 
proprietary opportunities that help
differentiate our brands. These include high-profile
sponsorships and cross-promotions, as well as our
LocalEyez program which promotes local and
regional artists.

With a constant eye, we will work to evaluate and
refine our national store network – seeking prudent
additions and making strategic consolidations, 
maximizing performance and shareholder value.

Focused, Determined, Ready

I would like to thank our shareholders, Board of
Directors, executive team and all of our associates – 
for helping us achieve a positive year, an exciting
solid year, and for positioning us for further success.

We are confident. We are energized. 
We are entertainment.

We are
more than 350,000 
music, movie and 
game titles, 
in store and online.
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Portfolio Expanding
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We are
more than 7,000 store 
associates – expert, 
customer-focused guides to
everything entertainment.

We are growing

In 2003, Trans World Entertainment acquired the

Wherehouse Entertainment store chain – solidifying

our West Coast presence, further improving the

industry’s strongest portfolio of store brands.

The strength of our store network has long been 

a hallmark of Trans World, and one of our key

strategic advantages. We have the entertainment

products people want, in the places they want to be.

That tradition continues.

We are innovating

We continued to utilize creative, innovative 

methods of reaching our customers, marketing 

our brands and promoting our products.

This includes the LVS – our revolutionary 

Listening and Viewing Stations, which enable 

customers to sample CDs, DVDs and more from 

our massive catalog in Trans World stores nation-

wide. In 2004, we’ll be adding new functionality,

from increasing cross-sell content to enabling 

customers to order out-of-stock items for home

delivery…all helping to enhance the experience 

and drive sales.

Our emphasis on innovation also includes unique,

strategic marketing programs and promotions –

alliances with Clear Channel Communications, 

MTV Networks and other top names in entertainment.

This is something only an industry leader can do,

something we will continue to leverage.

These are just a few samples of how we are 

differentiating ourselves – forming stronger 

relationships with entertainment consumers.
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The Total Entertainment Destination
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We are
more than 1 million 
customers contacting
our brand, and our 
products, each day.

Trans World’s brands are the preferred choice of 

a broad mix of consumers: teens, Xers, boomers 

and far beyond.

In living this vision, we continue to diversify our

product mix – an important way to distinguish 

our stores from our competitors.

We are also committed to discovering and 

promoting local music acts with regional appeal,

through our LocalEyez program. Once again, 

this is a unique property – demonstrating our 

commitment to the communities we 

call home. It is an opportunity to 

connect with customers, with 

musicians, with entertainment…

and to increase sales.

As we look back at 2003, our success was fueled

by the tremendous recent growth of the DVD 

category, but that is only part of the story. 

We are also CDs, video games, accessories…

and emerging media to come.

For more than three decades, Trans World 

has been synonymous with retail entertainment. 

It’s what we do. It’s who we are.

We are a total entertainment destination, 
spanning genres, formats and media



Financial Highlights

(in thousands, except per share and store data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Sales $1,330,626 $1,281,869 $1,388,032 $1,414,589 $1,358,132

Change in total sales 3.8% (7.6)% (1.9)% 4.2% 5.9%

Change in comparable store sales 1.3% (5.0)% (2.7)% 0.2% 2.0%

Net income (loss) $23,067 $(45,470) $16,791 $40,150 $61,393

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $0.60 $(1.13) $0.39 $0.83 $1.15

Total assets $817,758 $803,396 $935,418 $1,002,002 $956,410

Shareholders’ equity $399,184 $392,104 $448,066 $448,822 $494,173

Total stores 881 855 902 984 967
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries

The following table sets forth selected income statement and balance sheet data for the five fiscal years ended January 31, 2004 from the Company’s
audited consolidated financial statements. Each fiscal year of the Company consisted of 52 weeks, except the fiscal year ended February 3, 2001, which
consisted of 53 weeks. All share and per share amounts have been adjusted for stock splits. The information should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information included herein, including Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, February 1, February 2, February 3, January 29,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(in thousands, except per share and store data)

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
Sales $1,330,626 $1,281,869 $1,388,032 $1,414,589 $1,358,132
Cost of sales 842,726 815,071 935,256 917,354 858,588

Gross profit 487,900 466,798 452,776 497,235 499,544
Selling, general and administrative expenses 459,441 465,893 422,737 416,990 371,998
Camelot merger-related costs(1) — — — — 25,473
Goodwill impairment charge(2) — 40,914 — — —

Income (loss) from operations 28,459 (40,009) 30,039 80,245 102,073
Interest expense 2,147 2,349 2,477 3,128 3,496
Other expenses (income), net (718) (1,231) (2,120) (6,543) (4,086)

Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle 27,030 (41,127) 29,682 83,660 102,663

Income tax expense (benefit) 8,302 (9,341) 12,891 43,510 41,270

Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill and cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle 18,728 (31,786) 16,791 40,150 61,393

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, 
net of income taxes(3) 4,339 — — — —

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 
net of income taxes(4) — (13,684) — — —

Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791 $ 40,150 $ 61,393

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – 

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40 $ 0.84 $ 1.17

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.12 — — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) — — —

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40 $ 0.84 $ 1.17

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938 47,597 52,457

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – 

unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39 $ 0.83 $ 1.15

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.11 — — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) — — —

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39 $ 0.83 $ 1.15

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553 48,498 53,354

Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, February 1, February 2, February 3, January 29,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(in thousands, except per share and store data)

BALANCE SHEET DATA: (at the end of the period)
Total assets $ 817,758 $ 803,396 $ 935,418 $1,002,002 $ 956,410
Current portion of long-term obligations 395 1,640 4,711 5,702 5,311
Long-term obligations 7,465 7,860 9,500 13,767 19,461
Shareholders’ equity $ 399,184 $ 392,104 $ 448,066 $ 448,822 $ 494,173

OPERATING DATA:
Store count (open at end of period):

Mall stores 595 650 686 755 723
Freestanding stores 286 205 216 229 244
Total stores 881 855 902 984 967

Comparable store sales increase/(decrease)(5) 1.3% (5.0)% (2.7)% 0.2% 2.0%

Total square footage (in thousands) 5,484 4,944 5,076 5,322 4,913

1. The Camelot merger-related costs included the write-off of the book value of retired assets, professional fees associated with the completion of the merger, severance costs, joint proxy printing and distribution
costs, and regulatory filing fees.

2. The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge in fiscal 2002 related to Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, concerning the accounting for goodwill. For additional
discussion regarding the impairment charge, refer to Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

3. The Company’s acquisition of the net assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. and CD World Inc. stores in fiscal 2003 resulted in an extraordinary gain recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 141 concerning
Business Combinations. The gain represents the excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the purchase price of the acquired assets. For additional discussion regarding the extraordinary gain, refer to
Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

4. The Company adopted guidance relating to the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB’s”) Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Statement No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)
for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor”, effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash, after-tax charge of $13.7 million, which was classified as a “cumulative effect 
of a change in accounting principle”. This new practice has the effect of increasing selling, general and administrative expenses and increasing gross profit. For additional discussion regarding the cumulative
effect of the change in accounting principle, refer to Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Selling, General and Administrative Expenses and to
Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

5. A store is included in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of its 13th full month of operation.

Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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OVERVIEW
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations provides information that the Company’s
management believes necessary to achieve a clear understanding 
of the Company’s financial statements and results of operations. To 
the extent that such analysis contains statements which are not of a
historical nature, such statements are forward-looking statements,
which involve risks and uncertainties. These risks include, but are not
limited to, changes in the competitive environment for the Company’s
merchandise, including the entry or exit of non-traditional retailers of
the Company’s merchandise to or from its markets; the release by the
music industry of an increased or decreased number of “hit releases”;
general economic factors in markets where the Company’s merchandise
is sold; and other factors discussed in the Company’s filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The following discussion and
analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations
should be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial
Data” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this report. 

At January 31, 2004, the Company operated 881 stores totaling
approximately 5.5 million square feet in 47 states, the District of
Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands.

The Company’s stores offer predominantly entertainment software,
including music, home video and home video games. In total, these
categories represented 91% of the Company’s total sales in 2003. 
The balance of categories, items relating to the use, care and storage of
entertainment software, along with boutique and electronic products,
represented 9% of the Company’s total sales in 2003. Management
believes there will be continued growth in its home video and home
video games businesses, though the majority of sales will be in music 
for the foreseeable future. 

Management feels the greatest competitive issues that the Company
faces include the:

• Decrease in music sales due to proliferation of the unauthorized
duplication of music; and

• Mass merchants and electronics superstores, including Best Buy,
Circuit City, Target and Wal-Mart, often compete on price and are
garnering a larger share of customer traffic than mall-based retailers,
and some of which may have greater financial or other resources 
than the Company. 

The Company believes it competes primarily for customers in the
following ways: 

• Location and convenience: the Company believes that one of its
primary strengths is the location of its stores and the convenience 
of having a wide selection of product in shopping centers where 
it is often the only tenant selling entertainment software;

• Marketing: the Company uses primarily newspaper inserts, radio
advertising and extensive in-store signs and displays to advertise 
to its customers; 

• Selection and assortment: the Company feels it differentiates itself by
maintaining a high in-stock position in a wide and deep assortment 
of varied product, particularly in CD’s and DVD’s;

• Customer service: the Company believes its customer service 
levels are above the level of its competition;

• Price perception: the Company communicates a value message by
promoting exclusive value-priced merchandise, off-brand product 
and closeout merchandise and by offering a broad selection of 
used CD’s, DVD’s and video games; 

• Listening and Viewing Stations (“LVS”): the Company’s in-store 
LVS technology is the cornerstone of an interactive shopping
experience for FYE, For Your Entertainment, customers. 

In the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 (referred to herein as “2003”),
the Company improved its sales over the year ended February 1, 2003,
(referred to herein as “2002”) primarily as a result of the acquisitions 
of the Wherehouse stores and CD World stores and positive comparable
store sales. Earnings increased in 2003 as a result of increased sales, 
a higher gross margin rate in 2003 and a decrease in selling, general 
and administrative expenses. This reversed the trend of the previous two
fiscal years, during which the Company experienced declining sales and
earnings caused by the deliberate closing of stores coupled with 
a decline in music sales. The Company’s music business experienced
slower declines in 2003, as compared to 2002, as it did for the industry.
The Company believes its improved 2003 results were also the result of its
initiative to evolve into a total entertainment retailer, as described below.

BUSINESS PLANS
Management expects to increase its sales and earnings in 2004 
through the deliberate execution of its business plan. Key components 
of its plan include:

Developing its Brands – FYE Brand
The Company endeavors to continually develop all of its mall-based 
and freestanding store brands. Particular attention has been paid to 
its national mall-based brand FYE, For Your Entertainment, since its
launch in 2001. The FYE brand initiative was aimed at broadening the
Company’s customer base by creating a more relevant entertainment
shopping experience and differentiating FYE from its competition. 
The FYE brand is further tagged as the place where people “discover
entertainment” and this is continually communicated to customers
through the Company’s stores, associates and Web site, www.fye.com.
The brand promise centers around an engaging and personalized
approach in marketing and merchandising, an interactive in-store and
online entertainment experience and a best-in-retail-class customer
service level – all designed to draw customers into stores and enhance
long-term customer loyalty.

Development of in-store technologies is the cornerstone of an 
interactive shopping experience for FYE customers. In 2002, the
Company installed Listening and Viewing Stations in its FYE stores. 
LVS is an industry-leading product sampling and selection tool designed
to encourage customer purchases. This technology is seen as setting 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries



12

the Company apart from the competition by drawing more customers 
to its stores. Based on a survey by the NPD Group, a leading marketing
information provider, LVS has been found to have a significant impact
on driving repeat business. The Company will continue to leverage this
key technology and upgrade it into a second generation in the fiscal 
year ending January 29, 2005, (hereinafter referred to as “2004”),
adding the capability to host digital downloading services. Additional
enhancements including expanded product browsing capabilities, 
touch screens, and better resolution are some of the planned upgrades.

The Company plans to aggressively embrace digital media in its stores
and through its e-commerce activities and regards digital downloading
as yet another format for selling media products. The Company plans 
to test an online solution in its stores in the fourth quarter of 2004. 
The Company’s plan for implementing a digital downloading solution 
is contingent on (a) acquiring licenses to digitally distribute content 
(b) developing an in-store delivery system compliant with the licenses;
and, (c) creating a system compatible with portable consumer devices.

Improving Merchandise Assortments
The Company will continue to edit, the product mix of its stores 
toward regional tastes in order to increase the productivity of its stores,
seeking to serve key customer segments within each store. This involves
tailoring the overall music inventory and square footage allocation in
line with a store’s trend, and increasing inventory and square footage
allocations for other, growing categories, particularly home video and
video games. The Company is further improving store productivity by
continuing to develop a highly customer service-oriented selling culture
in its management team and work force. 

Growing Store Count
The Company continues to explore growth for mall and freestanding
stores, as competitors abandon locations and where economics are
compelling. Management believes there are opportunities to expand 
into new markets, fill in existing markets, and reposition stores in its
current portfolio, particularly with its freestanding formats.

Leveraging Costs
An important component of the Company’s plan is to continue to
steadily reduce the cost of doing business. The Company is looking to
grow its store count so that it can better leverage its cost structure. The
Company plans to outsource its internet operations (www.fye.com) 
to BuyServices, Inc. beginning in August 2004. Outsourcing will
improve the efficiency with which the Company operates this medium,
without changing the name, look and feel of the Company’s existing site,
while expanding its online offering of products and services. The
Company will continue to maintain its www.fye.com Web site and 
only the functionality will be outsourced to BuyServices, Inc. 
The Company expects to reduce expenses by approximately 
$3 million as a result of outsourcing its internet operations.

New Stores and Acquisitions
The Company has historically grown its sales by opening new stores 
and by acquiring specialty retailers in its business.

In October 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the 
net assets of 111 stores from Wherehouse Entertainment Inc.
(“Wherehouse”), a specialty music retailer located primarily in the
Western United States for $35.2 million in cash. The acquired stores
represent an excellent fit both strategically and operationally with the
Company’s freestanding stores and provide the unique opportunity to
expand its presence on the West Coast. The Company also acquired in
October 2003 substantially all of the net assets of 13 specialty stores of
CD World Inc. (“CD World”), located in New Jersey and Missouri for
$1.9 million in cash. Management will focus on these acquired stores 
in its fiscal year 2004 in order to optimize their value. See Note 3 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. 

Store Closings
Historically, about 10% of the Company’s stores are being evaluated 
at any time for closure. The composition of these stores changes from
time to time as the result of competitive changes and other factors. 
The Company aggressively closes stores when minimum operating
thresholds are not achieved.

In 2003, the Company closed more stores than it opened. However,
with the acquisition of the Wherehouse stores and CD World stores, 
the Company finished the year with an increase in store count from the
prior year (881 vs. 855). Management believes it will close roughly 
the same number of stores in 2004 that it opens and believes it will
increase its overall store count beginning in fiscal year 2005.

Suppliers
One of the Company’s major suppliers, UMVD, changed its CD cost
structure, such that it sells to the Company and other retailers the
majority of its compact discs at a lower net cost and eliminated
substantially all purchase incentives, including volume, purchase and
cooperative advertising discounts. UMVD accounted for 15% of the
Company’s total purchases in 2003. Since this change in October 2003,
the Company has not experienced a material impact related to its
financial results. 

Management continually monitors a number of key performance
indicators to evaluate its performance, including: 

Revenues: The Company generates substantially all of its revenue from
sales of entertainment software and related products. It continually
measures the rate of comparable store sales change. A store is included
in comparable store sales calculations at the beginning of its thirteenth
full month of operation. The Company further analyzes sales by store
format (i.e. mall vs. freestanding) and by product category.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margins: The Company tightly controls its cost of
sales. Gross margins are impacted primarily by the mix of products sold
and by purchase discounts provided by vendors. The Company records
its distribution and product shrink expenses in cost of sales.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) expenses: SG&A expenses are
comprised largely of salaries and wages and related costs, occupancy
charges, including rent and utilities, advertising, store operating costs
and other overhead expenses, including depreciation.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Balance Sheet and Ratios: The Company views cash, net inventory
investment (inventory less accounts payable) and working capital as
indicators of its financial position. See Liquidity and Capital Resources
for further discussion of these items.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2004 (“2003”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 1, 2003 (“2002”)

Sales. The increase in sales resulted from a comparable store sales
increase of 1.3% and an increase in the average number of stores in
operation due to the acquisition of stores in the third quarter. The 
store count increased from 855 at the end of 2002 to 881 at the end 
of 2003. In 2003, comparable store sales increased 1.9% for mall-based
stores and decreased 0.2% for freestanding stores. 

Music
The Company’s stores offer a wide range of compact discs, audio
cassettes and singles across most music genres, including new releases
from current artists as well as an extensive catalog of music from past
periods and artists. This category represented 55% of the Company’s
total sales in 2003.

Comparable store sales for music declined in fiscal 2003, following
industry trends. However, comparable store sales for CD sales improved
during the third and fourth quarters of 2003 as compared to the first
and second quarters, with an improvement in new release performance.
The Company’s annual CD sales declined in fiscal 2003 for the third
straight year. The decreases followed industry trends that have been
much publicized by the RIAA and are largely due to the unauthorized
duplication of music and weak industry new releases. According to 
the RIAA, industry sales of CD’s were down 7% in 2003. Music piracy
commonly occurs through either illegal downloading of music from 
the internet or illegal duplication (CD to CD copying) of music.
Compounding the problem is the fact that the categories of cassettes 
and singles are being virtually eliminated by the deliberate efforts of
vendors and shifts in consumer preferences.

However, the CD category improved for the Company, as with the
industry, during the third and fourth quarters of 2003. It is widely
believed that it was further helped by measures undertaken by the 
RIAA to reduce piracy, including legal actions taken against those 
who abuse online file-sharing services to illegally distribute product.

The Company believes that the paid digital downloading of music will
garner more market share in the coming years and has developed plans
to introduce an in-store test in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Video 
The Company offers home video, including DVD’s and videocassettes, 
in all of its stores. Since the introduction of the DVD format in 1997, 
the video industry has experienced significant growth. The growth 
in the DVD format has more than offset the corresponding decline in the
videocassettes for the Company. According to The Digital Entertainment
Group (DEG), consumer spending on home video was up 18% in 2003,
with DVD representing 72% of all home video transactions. Overall,
DVD retail sales in the United States in the calendar year 2003 grew 

by 33% over last year. The increase in comparable store sales for video
was driven by increased DVD sales. The Company plans to continue 
to grow its business and market share in this category by adding more
product and increasing square footage allocations. The category
represented 28% of total company sales in 2003.

Video Games 
The Company offers video game hardware and software in most of its
stores, with a mix that favors software. The Company’s total sales in this
category were flat in 2003. According to a leading market information
provider, the NPD Group, the video games market in 2003 was
impacted by price cuts from console manufacturers as well as declines 
in retail software prices. According to year-end figures released The
NPD Group, which tracks industry sales, sales of video games rose in
2003, but overall industry revenue declined by 4% to $11.2 billion. The
Company expects a modest increase in sales in this category until new
hardware platforms, and related software, are introduced. The category
represented 6% of total company sales in 2003. Management believes
there will be continued growth in its home video and home video games
businesses, though the majority of sales will continue to be in music for
the foreseeable future. 

Sales by merchandise category as a percentage of total sales for the two
years ended January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 were as follows:

January 31, Comparable February 1,
2004 Store Sales 2003

Music:
Compact Discs 52.8% (4.6)% 55.7%
Audio Cassettes 1.5 (45.3) 2.8
Singles 0.4 (5.1) 0.4

Total Music 54.7 (6.5) 58.9

Video:
VHS 4.9 (28.1) 6.7
DVD 23.1 29.4 17.8

Total Video 28.0 13.7 24.5

Video games 6.1 (2.0) 6.1
Other 11.2 21.8 10.5

Total 100.0% 1.3% 100.0%

2003 vs. 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Sales $1,330,626 $1,281,869 $48,757 3.8%

Gross Profit. The following table sets forth a year-over-year comparison
of the Company’s gross profit:

2003 vs. 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Gross Profit $487,900 $466,798 $21,102 4.5%

As a percentage
of sales 36.7% 36.4%

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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The increase in the gross profit rate as a percentage of sales was due 
to improvement in margin rate across most product categories. The
Company also recorded lower costs related to distribution and product
shrink expenses (which is defined as the difference between beginning
and ending inventory that has not been recorded as sales or transfers),
as a rate of sales, which are recorded in cost of sales. Management
believes that it can maintain its margin rate in the foreseeable future.
However, if its competitors lower prices, and the Company has to lower
its prices in response, it will negatively impact the margin rate. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The following table sets
forth a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s SG&A expenses:

2003 vs. 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Selling, general
and administrative
expenses $459,441 $465,893 $(6,452) (1.4)%

As a percentage
of sales 34.5% 36.3%

The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses was 
the result of lower overhead expenses, including depreciation, as 
non-recurring charges in 2003 were partially offset by non-recurring
charges in 2002. In 2003, the Company recorded additional employee
incentive costs based on its improved performance, and recorded
transition costs associated with the acquisition of the Wherehouse
stores. It further wrote-off long-lived assets of $3.7 million related 
to its internet operations. These additional charges were partially offset
by charges of $9.3 million taken in 2002 for the write down of certain
investments deemed impaired. The improvement in the selling, 
general and administrative expenses rate as a percentage of sales 
was due largely to the increase in 2003 annual sales.

Goodwill Impairment Charge. In 2002, the Company performed its
annual review of its goodwill balances in accordance with the provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and determined that the 
entire recorded goodwill of $40.9 million was impaired. The
impairment charge resulted from operating profits and cash flows 
being lower than expected during the second half of 2002. Based on 
this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company were revised. The
current fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based on 
the expectations for these businesses in light of sales trends and the
business environment at that time, including a slowdown in the 
retail music industry. A discounted cash flow model based upon the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely accepted
valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, were used to
determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units for purposes
of testing goodwill impairment. Accordingly, the Company took a 
non-cash impairment charge to operations of $40.9 million. For
additional discussion regarding the impairment charge, refer to 

Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). The following table sets forth a year-over-
year comparison of the Company’s provision for income taxes: 

2003 vs. 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Income tax
expense/(benefit) $8,302 $(9,341) $17,643 188.9%

Effective tax rate 30.7% 22.7%

For 2003, the Company’s effective rate of 30.7% was positively 
impacted by improved earnings before taxes and the settlement of its
COLI litigation with the IRS. The Company received an additional tax
benefit of $2.1 million as a result of the COLI settlement payment terms
with the IRS that it recorded in the second quarter (see Note 7 of 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K). The effective income tax benefit rate for 2002 was
impacted significantly by an increase in the valuation allowance for
deferred taxes related to the write-off of goodwill balances (see Note 1 
of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K), losses from the write down of certain investments
deemed impaired and the realizability of state operating loss
carryforwards. See Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a reconciliation of
the federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate. 

Extraordinary Gain. The Company acquired 111 Wherehouse stores 
and 13 CD World stores in October 2003 (see Note 3 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K), resulting in an extraordinary gain of $4.3 million, which is net 
of income taxes of $2.4 million. The gain represents the excess of the
fair value of net assets acquired in excess of the purchase price of the
acquired assets. 

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle. The Company
adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative advertising and
certain other vendor allowances effective from the beginning of fiscal
2002 in accordance with the FASB’s EITF No. 02-16, Accounting 
by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration 
Received from a Vendor, resulting in a one-time, non-cash charge 
of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million. For additional
discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed 
its previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other
vendor allowances. This new practice changed the timing of recognizing
allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and
related cost of sales. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
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Net Income (Loss). The following table sets forth a year-over-year
comparison of the Company’s net income (loss): 

2003 vs. 2002

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ %

Income (loss) before 
extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative
goodwill and 
cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $50,514 158.9%

Extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative 
goodwill, net of income 
taxes of $2,437 4,339 —

Cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle net of 
income taxes of $8,950 — (13,684)

Net income (loss) $23,067 $(45,470) $68,537 150.7%

Net income (loss) as 
a percentage of sales 1.7% (3.5)%

The Company’s net income was $23.1 million and income before
extraordinary gain was $18.7 million for 2003. The increase over 2002
is due to increased sales and gross margin and lower SG&A expenses in
2003. Further, the net loss in 2002 included the goodwill impairment
charge of $40.9 million and the charge arising from a change in an
accounting principle as discussed above (see Notes 1 and 2, respectively,
in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K).

Fiscal Year Ended February 1, 2003 (“2002”)
Compared to Fiscal Year Ended February 2, 2002 (“2001”)

Sales. Sales by merchandise category as a percentage of total sales 
for the two years ended February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002 were 
as follows:

February 1, Comparable February 2,
2003 Store Sales 2002

Music:
Compact Discs 55.7% (14.3)% 66.6%
Audio Cassettes 2.8 (41.2) 6.9
Singles 0.4 (62.0) 1.6

Total Music 58.9 (16.8) 75.1

Video:
VHS 6.7 (15.7) 8.5
DVD 17.8 42.7 6.0

Total Video 24.5 19.9 14.5

Video games 6.1 37.3 2.3
Other 10.5 10.5 8.1

Total 100.0% (5.0)% 100.0%

2002 vs. 2001

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %

Sales $1,281,869 $1,388,032 $(106,163) 7.6%

The Company’s sales decreased due to a comparable store sales decrease
of 5.0% and a net reduction in the average number of stores open over
the course of the year from 943 in 2001 to 878 in 2002. 

For 2002, comparable store sales decreased 5.0% for mall stores and
4.6% for freestanding stores. The decrease in music reflected the 
impact of an industry-wide decrease in CD sales. According to the 
RIAA Yearend 2002 statistics, shipments of all music formats including
CD’s were down 11% in 2002 as compared to 2001. Most of the decrease
is believed to be attributable to music piracy. Music piracy commonly
occurs through either illegal downloading of music from the internet 
or illegal duplication (CD to CD copying) of music. Compounding this
problem was the fact that the categories of cassettes and singles were
being virtually eliminated by the deliberate efforts of vendors. The
increase in comparable sales for video was driven by DVD sales. The
increase in the games category was the result of the Company’s devotion
of more space to and expansion of the category. 

Gross Profit. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, 
a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s gross profit:

2002 vs. 2001

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %

Gross Profit $466,798 $452,776 $14,022 3.1%

As a percentage 
of sales 36.4% 32.6%

The increase in gross profit was primarily the result of the reclassification
of certain net vendor allowances of $48.3 million in accordance with
guidance issued by FASB’s EITF No. 02-16 (see Note 2 of Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K). Without the effect of the reclassification of vendor
allowances, gross profit as a percentage of sales, was the same as 
last year at 32.6%. Including the reclassification of vendor allowances,
gross profit as a percentage of sales was 36.4% in 2002. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the
Company’s SG&A expenses:

2002 vs. 2001

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses $465,893 $422,737 $43,156 10.2%

As a percentage of sales 36.3% 30.5%

The increase in SG&A in 2002 can be attributed to the reclassification 
of certain net vendor allowances in accordance with guidance issued by
FASB’s EITF No. 02-16 (See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
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Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K). The effect of the
reclassification of vendor allowances increased SG&A by $49.9 million
or 3.9% of sales in 2002. Furthermore, in 2002, the Company recorded
charges of $5.5 million and $3.8 million, for the write down of certain
investments deemed impaired. 

Goodwill Impairment Charge. The Company performed an annual 
review of its goodwill balances in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 142 and determined that the entire recorded goodwill of 
$40.9 million was impaired. The impairment charge resulted from
operating profits and cash flows being lower than expected during the
second half of 2002. Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the
Company were revised. Given the then existing retail music industry
conditions, including CD piracy, management lowered its near-term
expectations for its business resulting in the impairment charge. The
current fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based on the
expectations for these businesses. A discounted cash flow model based
upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely
accepted valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, 
were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units
for purposes of testing goodwill impairment. Accordingly, the Company
took a non-cash impairment charge to operations of $40.9 million. 
For additional discussion regarding the impairment charge, refer to
Note 1 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). The following table sets forth, for the
periods indicated, a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s
provision for income taxes: 

2002 vs. 2001

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %

Income tax 
expense/(benefit) $(9,341) $12,891 $(22,232) (172.5)%

Effective tax rate 22.7% 43.4%

For 2002, the Company recorded an income tax benefit at an 
effective rate of 22.7%. The effective income tax benefit rate for 2002
was adversely impacted by an increase in the valuation allowance for
deferred taxes related to the goodwill impairment charge, losses from
investments and the realizability of state operating loss carryforwards,
as well as the Company’s loss before income tax expense (benefit). 
See Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s 
effective income tax rate. 

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle. The Company
adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative advertising and
certain other vendor allowances effective from the beginning of fiscal
2002 in accordance with EITF No. 02-16, resulting in a one-time, 
non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million.

For additional discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its
previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other
vendor allowances. This new practice changed the timing of recognizing
allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and
related cost of sales. 

Net Income (Loss). The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
a year-over-year comparison of the Company’s net income (loss):

2002 vs. 2001

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 $ %

Income (loss) before 
cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle $ (31,786) $16,791 $(48,577) (289.3)%

Cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle, net of income 
taxes of $8,950 (13,684) —

Net income (loss) $(45,470) $16,791 $(62,261) (370.8)%

As a percentage of sales (3.5)% 1.2%

The Company’s net loss of $45.5 million included the effect of the 
onetime non-cash charges relating to the cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle of $13.7 million and goodwill impairment charge 
of $40.9 million as discussed above, compared to a net income of 
$16.8 million in 2001. The net loss in 2002 is attributable to lower sales,
the write-off of investments in two unconsolidated affiliates as discussed
above in SG&A, the non-cash goodwill impairment charge and the
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. For additional
discussion regarding the impairment charge and the non-cash charge
arising from the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
refer to Notes 1 and 2, respectively, in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity and Cash Flows: The Company’s primary sources of working
capital are cash provided by operations and borrowing capacity under its
revolving credit facility. The Company’s cash flows fluctuate from quarter
to quarter due to various items, including seasonality of revenues and
earnings, inventory purchases and the related terms on the purchases,
store acquisitions, tax payments, capital expenditures and more recently,
stock repurchase activity. Management believes it will have adequate
resources to fund its cash needs for the foreseeable future. 
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The following table sets forth a three-year summary of key 
components of cash flow and working capital:

2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs. 2001

dollars in thousands 2003 2002 $ % 2001 $ %

Operating Cash Flows $66,180 $(1,262) $67,442 >100% $73,139 $74,401 >(100)%
Investing Cash Flows (54,033) (40,874) (13,159) (32)% (58,366) 17,492 (30)%
Financing Cash Flows (17,978) (15,757) (2,221) (14)% (24,914) 9,157 (37)%

Capital Expenditures 16,989 40,331 (23,342) (58)% 51,056 (10,725) (21)%

Cash and Cash Equivalents 191,219 197,050 (5,831) (3)% 254,943 (57,893) (23)%
Inventories 424,783 378,005 46,778 12% 409,067 (31,062) (8)%
Working Capital 253,475 218,628 34,847 16% 228,982 (10,354) (5)%
Inventory Turns 2.1 2.1 2.1

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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The increase in operating cash flows in 2003 was primarily due to
increased earnings in 2003. Inventory decreased $5.3 million in 2003 
as compared to a reduction in inventory of $8.4 million in 2002 and a
reduction of $66.7 million in 2001. In 2003, the reduction of inventory
due to the closing of stores was offset by the inventory related to the
acquired Wherehouse stores. The rate of inventory turn (which is a
measure of how fast inventory is sold and is calculated by dividing
current year’s cost of goods sold by average inventory) for 2003 was 
2.1 which was the same as 2002. Including the Wherehouse stores,
inventory was $77 per square foot at the end of 2003 as compared to
$76 per square foot at the end of 2002. Management does not anticipate
significant changes to its inventory turn rates and inventory investment
per square foot for the foreseeable future. Accounts payable leveraging
(the percentage of merchandise inventory financed by vendor credit
terms, e.g., accounts payable divided by merchandise inventory)
decreased to 72.0% as of January 31, 2004 compared with 86.5% as 
of February 1, 2003. The reduction in leverage was due to the inventory
related to the acquired Wherehouse stores, which was funded in 
October 2003 without the corresponding accounts payable, and 
which a significant amount was still present at year end. 

Cash used in investing activities was $54.0 million in 2003, as 
compared to $40.9 million in 2002. In 2003, the primary uses of 
cash were $17.0 million for capital expenditures and $37.0 million for
the acquisition of businesses (see Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
detail). The majority of the Company’s capital expenditures in 2003 
were spent on store improvements, relocations and new store openings.
The Company also made investments in technology in its stores
including upgrading and maintenance of Listening and Viewing Stations
and continued enhancement of the Company’s Web site www.fye.com.
The investment in technology was $4.0 million. The remainder of 
the Company’s capital expenditures in 2003 primarily related to
miscellaneous MIS projects. In 2002, the Company spent $40.3 million
for capital expenditures. In 2002, the Company spent $21.0 million on
technology and $1.0 million on the rebranding of its mall stores. 
The Company typically finances its capital expenditures through cash
generated from operations. The Company may also receive financing

from landlords in the form of construction allowances or rent
concessions. In 2004, the Company plans to spend approximately 
$30.0 million, net of construction allowances, for additions to fixed
assets, which includes approximately $7.0 million for real estate
purchases. The Company anticipates replacing its point of sale system 
in fiscal 2005, including equipment, which will require between 
$11 million and $13 million in capital spending. It further expects to
finance this expenditure through a capital lease transaction. 

Cash used in financing activities was $18.0 million in 2003, as 
compared to $15.8 million in 2002. In 2003 and 2002, the primary use
of cash used in financing activities was $17.0 million and $11.3 million,
respectively, to repurchase outstanding shares of the Company’s
Common Stock under programs authorized by the Board of Directors. 
In May 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program 
to repurchase 10 million shares of Common Stock from time to time on
the open market. The program marks the fourth program authorized in
the last three years. As of January 2004, the Company had completed
the purchase of 15 million shares of common stock under previously
announced programs. As of March 19, 2004, the Company had
completed the purchase of an additional 170,600 shares under the
current program.

The Company has a three year, $100 million secured revolving credit
facility with Congress Financial Corporation that expires in July 2006
and renews on a year-to-year basis thereafter upon the consent of 
both parties. The revolving credit facility contains certain restrictive
provisions including provisions governing cash dividends, additional
indebtedness and acquisitions, and it is collateralized by merchandise
inventory and contains a minimum net worth covenant. The Company
anticipates the amount of the credit agreement being fully available 
to the Company through its term. As of January 31, 2004 and 
February 1, 2003, the Company did not have any borrowings
outstanding under the facility, and $100 million was available for
borrowing. Interest expense was $2.1 million in 2003, of which 
$1.8 million was for capital leases. Interest expense was $2.3 million 
in 2002, of which $1.8 million was for capital leases.
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Contractual Obligation 2004 2005-2006 2007-2008 2009 and Beyond Total

Operating lease obligations $115,780 $178,157 $125,495 $118,913 $538,345
Capital lease obligations(1) 1,957 3,841 3,678 12,437 21,913

Total $117,737 $181,998 $129,173 $131,350 $560,258

(1) Includes $14.1 million in interest. 
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As more fully discussed in Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company leases 
its Albany, NY distribution center and administrative offices under 
three capital lease arrangements with its Chief Executive Officer 
and largest shareholder. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States requires that management apply accounting policies and
make estimates and assumptions that affect results of operations and 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements.
Management continually evaluates its estimates and judgments
including those related to merchandise inventory and return costs,
valuation of long-lived assets and goodwill, provision for income 
taxes, and accounting for vendor allowances. Management bases its
estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions 
or conditions. Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policies
and methods used by the Company in the preparation of its consolidated
financial statements. Management believes that of the Company’s
significant accounting policies, the following may involve a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity:

Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at the 
lower of cost or market as determined by the average cost method. 
The average cost method attaches a cost to each SKU and is a blended
average of the original purchase price and those of subsequent purchases
or other cost adjustments throughout the life cycle of that SKU. 

Inventory valuation requires significant judgment and estimates,
including merchandise markdowns, obsolescence and provision for
inventory shrink. Inherent in the entertainment software industry is 
the risk of obsolete inventory. Typically, newer releases generate a
higher product demand. Some vendors offer credits to reduce the cost 
of products that are selling more slowly, thus allowing for a reduction 
in the selling price and reducing the possibility for items to become
obsolete. The Company records inventory markdowns and obsolescence
based on current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, and

market conditions. The provision for inventory shrink is estimated as 
a percentage of sales for the period from the last inventory date to the
end of the fiscal year. Such estimates are based on historical results and
trends, and the shrink results from the last physical inventory. Physical
inventories are taken at least annually for all stores throughout the year,
and inventory records are adjusted accordingly. 

The Company is generally entitled to return merchandise purchased
from major vendors for credit against other purchases from these
vendors. These vendors often reduce the credit with a merchandise
return charge ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise
purchase price depending on the type of merchandise being returned.
The Company records merchandise return charges in cost of sales.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill: The Company assesses the
impairment of long-lived assets to determine if any part of the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Factors that the Company considers to 
be important when assessing impairment include:

• significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results;

• significant changes in the manner of the use of acquired assets 
or the strategy for the Company’s overall business;

• significant negative industry or economic trends;

• significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and

• market capitalization relative to net book value.

When the Company determines that the carrying value of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable based on one or more of the above
indicators, the Company tests for impairment to determine if an
impairment charge is needed. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment under the provisions of SFAS No.142. The Company 
used a two-step impairment assessment to determine if an impairment
charge was needed. The first step of the goodwill impairment test
compared the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit had exceeded 
its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit would have been
considered not impaired, and the second step of the impairment 
test would not have been necessary. Since the carrying amount 
of the reporting unit exceeded its fair value, the second step of the

Contractual Obligations and Commitments. The following table summarizes
the Company’s contractual obligations at January 31, 2004, and the

effect that such obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash
flows in future periods (in thousands). 
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goodwill impairment test was performed to measure the amount 
of impairment loss.

The Company tested goodwill pursuant to SFAS No. 142 as of the 
end of 2002 and determined that all of its recorded goodwill was
impaired. Accordingly a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of 
$40.9 million was recorded in loss from operations during the fourth
quarter of 2002. This impairment charge resulted from operating 
profits and cash flows being lower than expected during the second half
of 2002. Based on this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company
were revised. Given the then existing retail music industry conditions,
including CD piracy, management lowered its near-term expectations
for its business resulting in the impairment charge. The then current 
fair values of the Company’s reporting units were based on the present
expectations for these businesses. A discounted cash flow model based
upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely
accepted valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, were
used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units for
purposes of testing goodwill impairment.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and tax operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. 

Accounting for income taxes requires management to make estimates
and judgments regarding interpretation of various taxing jurisdictions,
laws and regulations as well as the ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets. These estimates and judgments include the generation of future
taxable income, viable tax planning strategies and support of tax filings.
Valuation allowances are recorded against deferred tax assets if, based
upon management’s estimates of realizability, it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of these deferred tax assets will not be realized.
For additional discussion regarding income taxes, refer to Note 6 in
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Accounting for Vendor Allowances: In accordance with guidance issued 
by the FASB’s EITF in March 2003 regarding the accounting for 
vendor allowances, EITF No. 02-16, vendor allowances are to be
recognized as a reduction cost of sales, unless the allowance represents 
a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable cost 
incurred to sell the vendor’s products. 

In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its
previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other

vendor allowances. This new practice changed the timing of recognizing
allowances in net earnings and had the effect of reducing inventory and
related cost of sales. 

Prior to adoption of EITF No. 02-16, vendor allowances were recognized
as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. These
allowances exceeded the specific, incremental costs of the advertising
and promotional expenses incurred by the Company. The portion of the
allowances in excess of the specific, incremental costs was recorded as
an offset to other operating expenses within selling, general and
administrative expenses. 

In accordance with the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, vendor advertising
allowances which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs
incurred in relation to advertising and promotional events conducted 
for vendors were required to be classified as a reduction of the purchase
price of merchandise inventory and recognized as a reduction of cost 
of sales as the merchandise inventory is sold. The amount of vendor
allowances to be recorded as a reduction of merchandise inventory was
determined by calculating the ratio of vendor allowances in excess of
specific, incremental and identifiable advertising and promotional costs
to merchandise inventory purchases. This ratio was then applied to 
the value of merchandise inventory to determine the amount of vendor
reimbursements that were recorded as a reduction to merchandise
inventory as reflected in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company
adopted the new guidance related to this method of accounting for
cooperative advertising and certain other vendor allowances effective
from the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash
charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million. For
additional discussion regarding the charge, refer to Note 2 in Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. 
In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132R, Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. 
SFAS No.132R amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132 
to require additional disclosures about assets, obligations, cash flow 
and net periodic benefit cost. SFAS No. 132R is effective in 2003 and 
the related disclosures have been included in Note 9 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of 
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies the accounting and reporting for
derivatives, amending the previously issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149
clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net
investment meets the characteristics of a derivative, amends the
definition of an underlying contract, and clarifies when a derivative
contains a financing component in order to increase the comparability
of accounting practices under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective
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for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The
Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not
have an impact on its financial position and results of operations. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity. SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 applies specifically to a number of
financial instruments that companies have historically presented within
their financial statements, as equity or between the liabilities section
and the equity section, rather than as liabilities. SFAS No. 150 is
generally effective for financial instruments entered into or modified
after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the
first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company 
has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an 
impact on its financial position and results of operations. 

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – an Interpretation of 
ARB No. 51, and, in October 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
(FSP) No. FIN 46-6, Effective Date of FASB Interpretation 46.
This staff position deferred the effective date for applying FIN 46 
to an interest held in a VIE or potential VIE that was created before 
February 1, 2003 until the end of the first interim or annual period

ending after December 15, 2003, except if the company had already
issued statements reflecting a VIE in accordance with FIN 46. In
December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46R (FIN 46R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – An Interpretation of 
ARB No. 51. FIN 46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation 
by business enterprises of variable interest entities that possess certain
characteristics. A variable interest entity (“VIE”) is defined as (a) an
ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the
ability to influence financial decisions is not proportional to the
investment interest, or (b) an entity lacking the invested capital
sufficient to fund future activities without the support of a third 
party. FIN 46R establishes standards for determining under what
circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary
beneficiary, including those to which the usual condition for
consolidation does not apply. Adoption of the required sections of 
FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of 
FIN 46R, did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements or disclosures. The Company intends to adopt the 
remaining sections of this guidance as required in 2004. The Company
will evaluate the impact of the adoption of FIN 46, as modified and
interpreted, including the provisions of FIN 46R, and does not expect
the adoption to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial
statements or disclosures.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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January 31, February 1,
2004 2003

(in thousands)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 191,219 $ 197,050
Accounts receivable 9,885 10,191
Merchandise inventory 424,783 378,005
Prepaid expenses and other 6,700 5,482
Deferred taxes 7,349 4,977

Total current assets 639,936 595,705

FIXED ASSETS, net 125,641 155,417

DEFERRED TAXES 39,964 40,667
OTHER ASSETS 12,217 11,607

TOTAL ASSETS $ 817,758 $803,396

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $306,298 $ 326,959
Income taxes payable 25,689 13,418
Accrued expenses and other 54,079 35,060
Current portion of capital lease obligations 395 1,640

Total current liabilities 386,461 377,077

CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current portion 7,465 7,860
OTHER LIABILITIES 24,648 26,355

TOTAL LIABILITIES 418,574 411,292

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued) — —
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 

54,245,838 shares and 54,046,595 shares issued in 2003 and 2002, respectively) 542 540
Additional paid-in capital 288,272 287,402
Unearned compensation – restricted stock (23) (116)
Treasury stock at cost (18,147,291 and 15,105,432 shares in 2003 and 2002, respectively) (146,055) (129,103)
Retained earnings 256,448 233,381

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 399,184 392,104

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 817,758 $803,396

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, February 1, February 2,

2004 2003 2002

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,330,626 $1,281,869 $1,388,032
Cost of sales 842,726 815,071 935,256

Gross profit 487,900 466,798 452,776
Selling, general and administrative expenses 459,441 465,893 422,737
Goodwill impairment charge — 40,914 —

Income (loss) from operations 28,459 (40,009) 30,039
Interest expense 2,147 2,349 2,477
Other expense (income), net (718) (1,231) (2,120)

Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle 27,030 (41,127) 29,682

Income tax expense (benefit) 8,302 (9,341) 12,891

Income (loss) before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 18,728 (31,786) 16,791

Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, net of income
taxes of $2,437 4,339 — —

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 
net of income taxes of $8,950 — (13,684) —

NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 23,067 $ (45,470) $ 16,791

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated negative

goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.12 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) —

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938

DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain – unallocated 

negative goodwill and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 0.49 $ (0.79)   $ 0.39
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.11 — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — $ (0.34) —

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Unearned
Additional Compensation Accum.

Common Stock Paid in Restricted Treasury Other Retained Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Stock Comp. Loss Earnings Equity

(in thousands)

Balance as of February 3, 2001 53,677 $537 $285,292 $ (6) $ (97,579) $(1,482) $262,060 $ 448,822
Comprehensive income:

Net Income — — — — — — 16,791
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities — — — — — (518) —

Reclassification adjustment for realized loss on 
available for sale securities included in net 
income for the period — — — — — 2,000 —

Total comprehensive income 18,273
Issuance of treasury stock under 

incentive stock programs — — 4 — 4 — — 8
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (20,236) — — (20,236)
Issuance of restricted stock 

under incentive stock programs 70 — 607 (607) — — — —
Forfeiture of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock (25) — (205) 205 — — — —
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 128 — — — 128
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 150 — — — — 150
Exercise of stock options and related tax benefit 207 2 919 — — — — 921

Balance as of February 2, 2002 53,929 $539 $286,767 $(280) $ (117,811) — $ 278,851 $448,066
Net Loss — — — — — — (45,470) (45,470)

Issuance of treasury stock under 
incentive stock programs — — 8 — 9 — — 17

Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (11,301) — — (11,301)
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 164 — — — 164
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 150 — — — — 150
Exercise of stock options and related tax benefit 117 1 477 — — — — 478

Balance as of February 1, 2003 54,046 $540 $287,402 $ (116) $(129,103) — $ 233,381 $ 392,104
Net Income — — — — — — 23,067 23,067
Repurchase of shares of treasury stock — — — — (16,952) — — (16,952)
Amortization of unearned compensation – 

restricted stock — — — 93 — — — 93
Issuance of stock to Directors — — 50 — — — — 50
Exercise of stock options and related tax benefit 200 2 820 — — — — 822

Balance as of January 31, 2004 54,246 $542 $288,272 $ (23) $(146,055) — $ 256,448 $ 399,184

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, February 1, February 2,

2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $(45,470) $ 16,791
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided 

(used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 40,539 42,476 42,335
Amortization of lease valuations, net (893) (148) (543)
Stock compensation programs 143 368 286
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2,544 2,834 3,720
Loss on impairment of fixed assets 3,682 — —
Write off of investments in unconsolidated affiliates — 9,311 —
Goodwill impairment charge — 40,914 —
Realized loss on available for sale securities — — 2,000
Deferred tax benefit (4,106) (9,877) (1,731)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — 13,684 —
Extraordinary gain on acquisition of businesses, net of income taxes (4,339) — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 306 (2,447) 482
Merchandise inventory 5,275 8,428 66,680
Prepaid expenses and other (1,218) 1,298 (1,009)
Other assets (353) 771 (1,176)
Accounts payable (20,661) (51,943) (51,283)
Income taxes payable 12,479 (12,399) (1,770)
Accrued expenses and other 12,849 784 (3,104)
Other liabilities (3,134) 154 1,461

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 66,180 (1,262) 73,139

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of fixed assets (16,989) (40,331) (51,056)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets — 34 171
Acquisition of businesses (37,044) — —
Purchase of investments in unconsolidated affiliates — (577) (7,481)

Net cash used by investing activities (54,033) (40,874) (58,366)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payments of capital lease obligations (1,640) (4,711) (5,258)
Payments for purchases of treasury stock (16,952) (11,301) (20,236)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 614 255 580

Net cash used by financing activities (17,978) (15,757) (24,914)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,831) (57,893) (10,141)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 197,050 254,943 265,084

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $191,219 $197,050 $254,943

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of treasury stock under incentive stock programs — $ 17 $ 8
Issuance of restricted shares under restricted stock plan — — 402
Income tax benefit resulting from exercises of stock options $ 208 186 341

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Note 1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations: Trans World Entertainment Corporation and
subsidiaries (“the Company”) is one of the largest specialty retailers 
of music, videos and related products in the United States. The
Company operates a chain of retail entertainment stores and 
e-commerce sites, www.fye.com, and www.wherehouse.com
in a single industry segment. As of January 31, 2004, the Company
operated 881 stores totaling approximately 5.5 million square feet in 
47 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
and the U.S. Virgin Islands, with a majority of the stores concentrated 
in the eastern half of the United States. The Company’s business is
seasonal in nature, with the peak selling period being the holiday 
season in the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements consist of
Trans World Entertainment Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Record Town, Inc. (“Record Town”), and Record Town’s subsidiaries, 
all of which are wholly-owned. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated. Certain amounts in previously
issued consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform 
to fiscal 2003 presentation. The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Items Affecting Comparability: The Company’s fiscal year is a 52 or 
53-week period ending on the Saturday nearest to January 31. Fiscal
2003, 2002 and 2001 ended January 31, 2004, February 1, 2003, 
and February 2, 2002, respectively, and each fiscal year consisted 
of 52 weeks.

In March 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB’s”)
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued guidance regarding
accounting for vendor allowances, EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a
Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received
from a Vendor. EITF No. 02-16 requires that vendor allowances be
recognized as a reduction of cost of sales, unless the allowance
represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable
cost incurred to sell the vendor’s products. In adopting the guidance 
of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its previous method of
accounting for cooperative advertising and other vendor allowances. 
The new practice changes the timing of recognizing allowances in 
net earnings and has the effect of reducing inventory and related cost 
of sales. See Notes 2 and 12 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for detailed discussion.

Revenue Recognition: The Company’s revenue is primarily from retail
sales of merchandise inventory. Revenue is recognized at the point of
sale. There are no provisions for uncollectible amounts since payment 
is received at the time of sale. Reductions of revenue for returns by
customers are generally provided at the point of return due to

infrequency and occurrence within short intervals of the sale and
immateriality to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid
investments purchased with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents.

Vendor Allowances: The Company receives vendor allowances for certain
events offered to its vendors. These events include items such as in-store
display promotions, co-op print advertising, and other promotional
events. Prior to fiscal 2002, all vendor allowances were recognized 
as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. In fiscal
2002, the Company adopted the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, effective
retroactively as of the beginning of fiscal 2002. Accordingly, vendor
advertising allowances which exceed specific, incremental and
identifiable costs incurred in relation to the advertising and promotions
offered by the Company to its vendors were required to be classified as 
a reduction in the purchase price of merchandise inventory. See Note 2 
of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Concentration of Credit Risks: The Company maintains centralized cash
management and investment programs whereby excess cash balances
are invested in short-term funds and money market instruments
considered to be cash equivalents. The Company’s investment portfolio
is diversified and consists of short-term investment grade securities
consistent with its investment guidelines. These guidelines include the
provision that sufficient liquidity will be maintained to meet anticipated
cash flow needs. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents
with various financial institutions. At times, such amounts may exceed
the F.D.I.C. limits. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure
with any one financial institution and believes that no significant
concentration of credit risk exists with respect to cash investments.

Concentration of Business Risks: The Company purchases inventory for 
its stores from approximately 800 suppliers, with approximately 52% 
of purchases being made from five major suppliers. Historically, the
Company has not experienced difficulty in obtaining satisfactory sources
of supply, and management believes that it will retain access to adequate
sources of supply. However, a loss of a major supplier could cause a loss
of sales, which would have an adverse effect on operating results and
also result in a decrease in vendor support for the Company’s
advertising programs.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates: Investments in unconsolidated
affiliates have been recorded on the cost basis, with any decline in the
market value below cost that is deemed other than temporary charged 
to earnings. Write-off of investments in unconsolidated affiliates for
other than temporary decline in market value amounted to $0, 
$9.3 million and $0 for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which 
is reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of operations. In 2002, the Company recorded
charges of $5.5 million and $3.8 million for the write down of certain
investments in Data Play Inc. and Sheridan Square, respectively, which
were deemed impaired. 

Merchandise Inventory and Return Costs: Inventory is stated at the lower
of cost or market as determined by the average cost method. A provision

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries

for inventory shrink is estimated as a percentage of sales for the period
from the last inventory date to the end of the fiscal year. Such estimates
are based on historical results and trends, and the shrink results from
the last physical inventory. Physical inventories are taken at least
annually for all stores throughout the year, and inventory records are
adjusted accordingly. The Company records inventory markdowns 
and obsolescence based on current and anticipated demand, customer
preferences, and market conditions. 

The Company is entitled to return merchandise purchased from major
vendors for credit against other purchases from these vendors. These
vendors often reduce the credit with a merchandise return charge
ranging from 0% to 20% of the original merchandise purchase price
depending on the type of merchandise being returned. The Company
records merchandise return charges in cost of sales.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation: Fixed assets are recorded at cost and
depreciated or amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold Improvements Lesser of estimated useful life of the
asset or the lease term

Fixtures and Equipment 3-7 years
Buildings 30 years

Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and
equipment are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are expensed as costs are incurred. A majority of the Company’s
operating leases are ten years in term. Amortization of capital lease
assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company accounts for fixed 
assets and other long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions 
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. 
SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to
be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated
by the asset over its remaining useful life. If the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally measured
based on discounted estimated future cash flows. SFAS No. 144 requires
companies to separately report discontinued operations and extends that
reporting to a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or
is classified as held for sale. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. The Company
adopted SFAS No. 144 on February 3, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144
did not affect the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 144, the Company accounted for 
long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of .

The Company plans to outsource its internet operations (www.fye.com)
to BuyServices, Inc. beginning in August 2004. As a result, the Company
wrote off for impairment certain long-lived assets of $3.7 million in
fiscal 2003 related to its internet operations, which is reflected in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations. Outsourcing will improve the efficiency with
which the Company operates this medium, without changing the look
and feel of the Company’s existing site, yet expanding its online offering
of products and services. The Company expects to achieve significant
cost reductions as a result of outsourcing its internet operations.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the adjusted amount of the cost of
acquisitions in excess of fair value of net assets acquired in purchase
transactions. Effective February 3, 2002 the Company adopted 
SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized. Rather,
goodwill is now subject to a periodic impairment test performed, at 
a minimum, on an annual basis. If the carrying value of goodwill
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized. The
Company does not have any other intangible assets subject to the
provisions of SFAS No. 142. 

Amortization expenses related to goodwill were $0, $0 and 
$2.9 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 

The Company tested goodwill pursuant to SFAS No. 142 as of the end 
of 2002 and determined that all of its recorded goodwill was impaired.
Accordingly a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $40.9 million
was recorded in loss from operations during the fourth quarter of 2002.
This impairment charge resulted from operating profits and cash flows
being lower than expected during the second half of 2002. Based on 
this trend, the earnings forecasts of the Company were revised. Given
the retail music industry conditions at that time, including CD piracy,
management lowered its near-term expectations for its business
resulting in the impairment charge. The current fair values of the
Company’s reporting units were based on the present expectations 
for these businesses at the time. A discounted cash flow model based
upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, and other widely
accepted valuation techniques, including market multiple analyses, 
were used to determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting 
units for purposes of testing goodwill impairment.

Prior to February 3, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line
basis over estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 20 years. The
amortization period was determined by taking into consideration the
following factors: the critical market position and establishment of
brand names; the combined store mass; the amortization periods
generally used in the retail music business; the highly competitive
nature of the business including emerging forms of competition; and 
the overall history of profitability of the acquired businesses. Goodwill,
as well as the related amortization periods, were periodically evaluated
to determine whether events or circumstances warranted adjustments to
these amounts or useful lives. The Company assessed the recoverability
of goodwill using a cash flow approach consistent with the Company’s
analysis of impairment of long-lived assets under SFAS No. 121.
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A reconciliation of reported income (loss) before extraordinary gain 
and net income (loss) adjusted to reflect adoption of SFAS No. 142 is 
provided below:

Fiscal Year
(Amounts in thousands, 
except per share amounts) 2003 2002(1) 2001

Income (loss) before 
extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative 
effect of change in 
accounting principle, 
as reported $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $16,791

Effect of goodwill 
amortization, net of 
income taxes — — 2,037

Adjusted income (loss) 
before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill 
and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $18,828

Net income (loss) as reported $23,067 $(45,470) $16,791
Effect of goodwill amortization, 
net of income taxes — — 2,037

Adjusted net income (loss) $23,067 $(45,470) $18,828

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before 

extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, per share 
as reported $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40

Effect of goodwill amortization, 
net of income taxes — — 0.05

Adjusted income (loss) 
per share before extraordinary 
gain –  unallocated 
negative goodwill $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.45

Net income (loss) per share 
as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40

Effect of goodwill amortization, 
net of income taxes — — 0.05

Adjusted net income (loss) 
per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.45

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before 

extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, per share 
as reported $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39

Effect of goodwill amortization, 
net of income taxes — — 0.05

Adjusted income (loss) per share 
before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.44

Net income (loss) per share 
as reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39

Effect of goodwill amortization, 
net of income taxes — — 0.05

Adjusted net income (loss) 
per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.44

(1) 2002 net loss includes the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $13.7 million,
net of income taxes, relating to accounting for vendor allowances. See Note 2 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Advertising Costs: In 2002, the Company adopted new guidance issued
by the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force, EITF No. 02-16, Accounting
by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received
from a Vendor, regarding vendor allowances. See Note 2 of Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Accordingly, advertising and
sales promotion costs are charged to operations, offset by direct vendor
reimbursements, as incurred. Total advertising expense, excluding
vendor allowances, was $21.2 million, $18.8 million, and $25.6 million
in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.

Store Closing Costs: Based on an overall analysis of store performance
and expected trends, management periodically evaluates the closing 
of underperforming stores. For exit activities related to store closings
subsequent to December 31, 2002, reserves are established at the time 
a liability is incurred for the present value of any remaining lease
obligations, net of estimated sublease income, and other exit costs, 
as prescribed by SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities. For exit activities prior to December 31,
2002, reserves were established for store closing costs at the date of the
Company’s commitment to an exit plan in accordance with EITF Issue
No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).

Gift Certificates: The Company offers gift certificates for sale in the form
of gift cards. A deferred income account, which is included in accrued
expenses and other in the consolidated balance sheet, is established 
for gift cards issued. When gift cards are redeemed at the store level,
revenue is recorded and the related liability is reduced. Other accrued
expenses include employee obligations, obligations to landlords and
sales tax obligations.

Income Taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases, and tax operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The 
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the
enactment date. Deferred tax assets are subject to valuation allowances
based upon management’s estimates of realizability.

Comprehensive Income: The Company accounts for comprehensive
income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive
Income. SFAS No. 130 requires only additional disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements; it does not affect the Company’s
financial position or results of operations. In 2003 and 2002, the
Company did not have other items of comprehensive income as defined
by SFAS No. 130, and accordingly, comprehensive income (loss) is equal
to net income (loss). Comprehensive income for 2001 consists of net
income and net unrealized losses on available for sale securities and is
presented in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Trans World Entertainment Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic 
value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and related interpretations including FASB Interpretation
No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock
Compensation – An Interpretation of APB No. 25, in accounting for 
its fixed plan stock options. Under this method, compensation expense
would be recorded on the date of grant only if the current market 
price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. Unearned
compensation recognized for restricted stock awards is shown as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity and is amortized to expense
over the vesting period of the stock award using the straight-line
method. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure, established accounting and
disclosure requirements using a fair value-based method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation plans. As allowed 
by SFAS No. 123, the Company has elected to continue to apply the
intrinsic value-based method of accounting described above, and 
has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 and 
SFAS No.148. The following table illustrates the effect on net income
(loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the 
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based
employee compensation. 

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income (loss), as reported $23,067 $(45,470) $16,791
Add: Stock-based employee 

compensation expense included 
in reported net income (loss), 
net of related tax effects 93 84 72

Deduct: Total stock-based 
employee compensation expense 
determined under fair value-based 
method for all awards, net of 
related tax effects (3,347) (4,036) (4,131)

Pro forma net income (loss) $19,813 $(49,422) $12,732

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic – as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40
Basic – pro forma $ 0.53 $ (1.23) $ 0.30
Diluted – as reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39
Diluted – pro forma $ 0.52 $ (1.23) $ 0.30

Investment Securities: Certain investments are categorized as available
for sale securities in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and are recorded 
at fair value-based upon quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and
losses are excluded from earnings and reflected in shareholders’ equity
until realized. Realized gains and losses for available for sale securities
are included in earnings and are computed using the specific
identification method for determining the cost of securities sold. 
A decline in the market value of any available for sale security below 

cost that is deemed other than temporary is charged to earnings,
resulting in the establishment of a new cost basis for the security.

As of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, the Company did not
have any available for sale securities. As of February 2, 2002, the 
gross unrealized losses on available for sale securities included as a
component of shareholders’ equity was $1.5 million. Gross realized
losses recognized in operations during 2003, 2002 and 2001 were 
$0, $0 and $2.0 million respectively. 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated 
by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated 
by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average shares
outstanding and additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued 
for the Company’s common stock options from the Company’s 
Stock Option Plans (See Note 9 of Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements). 

The following is a reconciliation of the basic weighted average number
of shares outstanding to the diluted weighted average number of 
shares outstanding:

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Weighted average common 
shares outstanding – basic 37,422 40,224 41,938

Dilutive effect of employee 
stock options 787 — 615

Weighted average common 
shares outstanding – diluted 38,209 40,224 42,553

Antidilutive stock options 5,322 6,901 4,355

Antidilutive stock options outstanding for 2003 and 2001 were 
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because
the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market
price of the common shares during the period. For 2002, all stock
options outstanding were excluded from the computation of dilutive 
loss per share as the impact would be antidilutive.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts reported in 
the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and other current liabilities approximate
fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these
financial instruments. The carrying value of life insurance policies
included in other assets approximates fair value-based on estimates
received from insurance companies.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements: In December 2003, 
the FASB issued SFAS No. 132R, Employers’ Disclosures about
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. SFAS No.132R 
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132 to require
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additional disclosures about assets, obligations, cash flow and net
periodic benefit cost. SFAS No. 132R is effective in 2003 and the 
related disclosures have been included in Note 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement
133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149
amends and clarifies the accounting and reporting for derivatives,
amending the previously issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 149 
clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial net
investment meets the characteristics of a derivative, amends the
definition of an underlying contract, and clarifies when a derivative
contains a financing component in order to increase the comparability
of accounting practices under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The
Company has determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 149 did 
not have an impact on its financial position and results of operations. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity. SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 applies specifically to a number of
financial instruments that companies have historically presented within
their financial statements, as equity or between the liabilities section
and the equity section, rather than as liabilities. SFAS No. 150 is
generally effective for financial instruments entered into or modified
after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the
first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company has
determined that the adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact
on its financial position and results of operations. 

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – an Interpretation of 
ARB No. 51, and, in October 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
(FSP) No. FIN46-6, Effective Date of FASB Interpretation 46.
This staff position deferred the effective date for applying FIN 46 to 
an interest held in a VIE or potential VIE that was created before
February 1, 2003 until the end of the first interim or annual period
ending after December 15, 2003, except if the company had already
issued statements reflecting a VIE in accordance with FIN 46. In
December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46R (FIN 46R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – An Interpretation of 
ARB No. 51. FIN 46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by
business enterprises of variable interest entities that possess certain
characteristics. A variable interest entity (“VIE”) is defined as (a) an
ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the
ability to influence financial decisions is not proportional to the
investment interest, or (b) an entity lacking the invested capital
sufficient to fund future activities without the support of a third 
party. FIN 46R establishes standards for determining under what
circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary

beneficiary, including those to which the usual condition for
consolidation does not apply. Adoption of the required sections of 
FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the provisions of 
FIN 46R, did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in 2003. The Company intends to adopt this
guidance as required in 2004. The Company will evaluate the impact 
of the adoption of FIN 46, as modified and interpreted, including the
provisions of FIN 46R, and does not expect the adoption to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.

Note 2. Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle

In accordance with final guidance issued by the FASB’s Emerging Issues
Task Force in March 2003 regarding accounting for vendor allowances,
EITF No. 02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) 
for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor, vendor allowances
are to be recognized as a reduction of cost of sales, unless the allowance
represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental and identifiable
cost incurred to sell the vendor’s products. 

In adopting the guidance of EITF No. 02-16, the Company changed its
previous method of accounting for cooperative advertising and other
vendor allowances. This new practice changes the timing of recognizing
allowances in net earnings and has the effect of reducing inventory and
related cost of sales. 

Prior to adoption of EITF No. 02-16, vendor allowances were recognized
as an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses. These
allowances exceeded the specific, incremental costs of the advertising
and promotional expenses incurred by the Company. The portion of the
allowances in excess of the specific, incremental costs was recorded as
an offset to other operating expenses within selling, general and
administrative expenses. 

In accordance with the provisions of EITF No. 02-16, vendor advertising
allowances which exceed specific, incremental and identifiable costs
incurred in relation to advertising and promotional events conducted 
for vendors are required to be classified as a reduction of the purchase
price of merchandise inventory and recognized as a reduction of cost 
of sales as the merchandise inventory is sold. The amount of vendor
allowances to be recorded as a reduction of merchandise inventory was
determined by calculating the ratio of vendor allowances in excess of
specific, incremental and identifiable advertising and promotional costs
to merchandise inventory purchases. This ratio was then applied to the
value of merchandise inventory to determine the amount of vendor
reimbursements that were recorded as a reduction to merchandise
inventory as reflected in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company
adopted the new guidance related to this method of accounting for
cooperative advertising and certain other vendor allowances effective
from the beginning of fiscal 2002, resulting in a one-time, non-cash
charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of $8.9 million. 

The following table illustrates the effect on income (loss) before
extraordinary gain, net income (loss) and related per share amounts as if
the Company had applied the provisions of EITF No. 02-16 retroactively:
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Fiscal Year
(Amounts in thousands, 
except per share amounts) 2003 2002(1) 2001

Income (loss) before 
extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill and 
cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle, 
as reported $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $16,791

Effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes — — 1,607

Adjusted income (loss) before 
extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill and cumulative 
effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes $ 18,728 $ (31,786) $18,398

Reported net income (loss) $23,067 $(45,470) $16,791
Effect of change in accounting 

principle, net of income taxes — — 1,607

Adjusted net income (loss) $23,067 $(45,470) 18,398

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary 

gain – unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative effect 
of change in accounting 
principle, per share as reported $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.40

Effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04

Adjusted income (loss) per share 
before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill 
and cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle, 
net of income taxes $ 0.50 $ (0.79) $ 0.44

Basic earnings (loss) per share 
as reported $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.40

Effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) 
per share $ 0.62 $ (1.13) $ 0.44

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary 

gain – unallocated negative 
goodwill and cumulative effect of 
change in accounting principle, 
per share as reported $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.39

Effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04

Adjusted income (loss) per share 
before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net of 
income taxes $ 0.49 $ (0.79) $ 0.43

Diluted earnings (loss) 
per share – reported $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.39

Effect of change in accounting 
principle, net of income taxes — — 0.04

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) 
per share $ 0.60 $ (1.13) $ 0.43

(1) 2002 net loss includes the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of $13.7 million,
net of income taxes relating to accounting for vendor allowances.

Note 3. Business Combinations

On October 2, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the 
net assets of Wherehouse Entertainment Inc. (“Wherehouse”). 
Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired 
111 Wherehouse stores. Wherehouse, which was operating in Chapter 11
bankruptcy, was a specialty music retailer, and owned and operated 
145 stores located primarily in the western United States. On completion
of the sale, the Company retained 111 Wherehouse stores, and the
remaining 34 stores were liquidated by a joint venture comprised of
Hilco Merchant Resources, LLC, Gordon Brothers Retail Partners, LLC
and The Ozer Group LLC. The Company was granted the right for up to
six months to close any of the acquired stores through the Wherehouse
bankruptcy proceeding without obligation. The Company closed 10
stores consequent to this clause without obligation. The acquisition was
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. 

The purchase price for the acquired Wherehouse assets was $35.2 million
including acquisition-related costs. The total purchase price was
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
fair values as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Current assets $48,998
Current liabilities (6,352)
Long term liabilities (3,343)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill (4,137)

Total purchase price $ 35,166

The unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes 
the combined results of operations of the Company and Wherehouse, 
on a pro forma basis as though the companies had been combined as 
of the beginning of each period presented. This pro forma information 
is presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved 
had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of each twelve-month
period presented. The pro forma information also does not include one-
time items related to acquisition accounting, including the extraordinary
gain arising from unallocated negative goodwill. The unaudited pro
forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended January 31, 2004 combines the historical results of the Company
for the year ended January 31, 2004 and the historical results of
Wherehouse for the period preceding the acquisition of February 2, 2003
through October 1, 2003. The unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended February 1, 2003
combines the historical results of the Company and Wherehouse for 
the periods as indicated. 
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The following is the unaudited pro forma information, after giving effect
to purchase accounting adjustments.

Fiscal Year
2003 2002

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Pro forma sales $1,435,862 $1,462,877

Pro forma income (loss) 
before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill 
and cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle $ 16,814 $ (21,796)

Extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, net of 
income taxes 1,689 —

Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net of 
income taxes — (13,684)

Pro forma income (loss) $ 18,503 $ (35,480)

Pro forma income (loss) per basic 
share before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, 
net of income taxes $ 0.45 $ (0.54)

Extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, net of income taxes $ 0.04 —

Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net of 
income taxes — $ (0.34)

Pro forma income (loss) 
per basic share $ 0.49 $ (0.88)

Pro forma income (loss) per diluted 
share before extraordinary gain – 
unallocated negative goodwill and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net 
of income taxes $ 0.44 $ (0.54)

Extraordinary gain – unallocated 
negative goodwill, net of income taxes $ 0.04 —

Cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle, net of 
income taxes — $ (0.34)

Pro forma income (loss) 
per diluted share $ 0.48 $ (0.88)

On October 6, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the net
assets of CD World Inc. (“CD World”). CD World includes 13 free-
standing specialty stores in New Jersey and Missouri. The acquisition
was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cash
consideration for CD World was $1.9 million, including acquisition-
related costs. The total purchase price was allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their fair values as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Current assets $4,627
Current liabilities (81)
Long-term liabilities (29)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill (2,639)

Total purchase price $ 1,878 

The consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of
Wherehouse from October 1, 2003 and CD World from October 6, 2003.
Pro forma information including CD World results of operations have not
been presented because the pro forma effect of the CD World acquisition
would not be material to the Company’s results of operations. 

In accordance with SFAS No.141, Business Combinations, an
extraordinary gain from unallocated negative goodwill of $4.3 million
(net of income taxes of $2.4 million), representing the excess of the 
fair value of the net assets acquired over the purchase price was
recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
January 31, 2004 in connection with the Wherehouse and CD World
acquisitions. The unallocated negative goodwill was arrived at after
adjusting the value of the acquired non-current assets to zero, in
accordance with SFAS No.141. No intangible assets were acquired 
in connection with either acquisition. 

The purchase price was allocated on a preliminary basis using
information currently available. The allocation of the purchase price 
to the assets and liabilities acquired will be finalized in fiscal 2004. 
The allocation of the purchase price will be adjusted after obtaining
more information regarding asset valuations and liabilities assumed. 

Note 4. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets at year-end consist of the following:

January 31, February 1,
2004 2003

(in thousands)

Buildings $ 18,926 $18,926
Fixtures and equipment 189,609 193,943
Leasehold improvements 120,570 123,701

329,105 336,570
Allowances for depreciation 

and amortization (203,464) (181,153)

$125,641 $155,417

Depreciation and amortization expense related to the Company’s
distribution center facility and equipment of $2.4 million, $2.3 million
and $1.6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, is included in
cost of sales. All other depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is
included in selling, general and administrative expenses. 
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Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is included in the
consolidated statements of operations as follows:

Fiscal Year 
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Cost of sales $ 2,405 $ 2,318 $ 1,637

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses $38,134 $40,158 $37,839

Note 5. Debt

The Company has a three year, $100 million secured revolving credit
facility with Congress Financial Corporation that expires in July 2006
and renews on a year-to-year basis thereafter upon the consent of both
parties, unless terminated by the bank or the Company pursuant to
provisions in the agreement. The revolving credit facility contains
certain restrictive provisions, including provisions governing cash
dividends and acquisitions, is collateralized by merchandise inventory
and has a minimum net worth covenant. Interest on the revolving credit
facility is payable monthly in arrears at a variable rate of either the
prime rate, or LIBOR plus 1.65%. In addition, the Company is subject 
to a facility fee of 0.25% of the average daily balance unused portion of
the credit facility, plus a monthly service fee. As of January 31, 2004 
and February 1, 2003, the Company did not have any borrowings
outstanding under the facility, and $100 million was available.

Interest paid during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately 
$2.1 million, $2.3 million and $2.5 million, respectively, the majority 
of which related to capital leases.

Note 6. Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) is allocated between continuing operations
and extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill, as follows: 

Fiscal Year 
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Continuing operations $ 8,302 $(9,341) $12,891
Extraordinary gain – unallocated 

negative goodwill 2,437 — —

$10,739 $(9,341) $12,891

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations consists 
of the following:

Fiscal Year 
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Federal – current $10,044 $(1,034) $12,161
State – current 2,364 1,570 2,461
Deferred (4,106) (9,877) (1,731)

$ 8,302 $(9,341) $12,891

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate from
continuing operations with the Federal statutory rate is as follows:

Fiscal Year 
2003 2002 2001

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal 

income tax effect 3.5% 2.7% 1.5%
Change in federal valuation 

allowance (0.4)% (5.1)% 6.7%
Corporate-owned life insurance 

payment settlement, net (7.4)% — —
Goodwill impairment charge 

(See Note 1 of Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements) — (9.8)% —

Other — (0.1)% 0.2%

Effective income tax rate 30.7% 22.7% 43.4%

On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District 
of Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) in the case IRS vs. CM Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, upholding the IRS’ disallowance of deductions of
interest expense related to corporate-owned life insurance policies. 
The remaining accrued liabilities attributable to this matter are 
$8.1 million and $11.0 million which are included in other (long-term)
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of January 31, 2004 and
February 1, 2003, respectively. During the second fiscal quarter of 2003,
the Company and the IRS agreed on final payment terms for an amount
less than previously accrued, which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$2.1 million. Under the final payment terms, the Company has agreed 
to make annual interest payments and a final principal payment of
approximately $7.1 million in 2006. 
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets 
are as follows:

January 31, February 1,
2004 2003

(in thousands)

CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Accrued expenses $ 3,508 $ 962
Accounts receivable 797 513
Inventory 2,835 3,459
Other 209 43

Total current deferred tax assets 7,349 4,977

NON-CURRENT DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Fixed assets 14,756 15,498
Federal and state net operating 

loss carryforwards 12,397 13,733
Real estate leases 8,164 8,270
Losses on investments 5,267 5,373
Goodwill 7,799 8,552
Retirement and compensation 

related accruals 2,152 1,656
Other 385 440

Total non-current deferred tax assets 
before valuation allowance 50,920 53,522

Less: valuation allowance (10,956) (12,855)

Total non-current deferred tax assets $39,964 $40,667

NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET $ 47,313 $45,644

At January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, the Company had gross
deferred tax assets of $58.3 million and $58.5 million, respectively, and
gross deferred tax liabilities of $0 and $0, respectively. The Company
had a net operating loss carryforward of $8.1 million for Federal income
tax purposes and $176.5 million for state income tax purposes as of the
end of 2003 that expire at various times through 2023 and are subject
to certain limitations. The state net operating loss carryforwards are
subject to various business apportionment factors and multiple
jurisdictional requirements when utilized. 

In assessing the propriety of deferred tax assets, management 
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all 
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in
making this assessment. Based upon the level of projected future taxable
income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible,
and tax planning strategies, the valuation allowance was decreased from
$12.9 million to $11.0 million, a level where management believes that 
it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will be realized. Of this
decrease in the valuation allowance, $1.2 million is reflected as state

income taxes, net of Federal income tax benefit. The valuation allowance
was decreased to account for the utilization of state deferred tax assets,
attributable to net operating loss carryforwards, for which a valuation
allowance had been recorded. The amount of the deferred tax asset
considered realizable could be reduced if estimates of future taxable
income during the carryforward period are reduced.

The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds, of approximately 
$2.9 million, $12.9 million and $16.4 million during 2003, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. 

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

On October 16, 2000, the United States District Court for the District 
of Delaware issued an opinion in favor of the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) in the case IRS vs. CM Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, upholding the IRS’ disallowance of deductions of
interest expense related to corporate-owned life insurance policies. 
The remaining accrued liabilities attributable to this matter are 
$8.1 million and $11.0 million which are included in other (long-term)
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of January 31, 2004 and
February 1, 2003, respectively. During the second fiscal quarter of 2003,
the Company and the IRS agreed on final payment terms for an amount
less than previously accrued, which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$2.1 million. Under the final payment terms, the Company has agreed to
make annual interest payments and a final principal payment of
approximately $7.1 million in 2006. 

On March 3, 2003, the Company filed a complaint in the United States
District Court in the Northern District of New York against Fullplay
Media Systems, Inc. (“Fullplay”). The action against Fullplay by the
Company was for breach of contract and misappropriation of trade
secrets in the design and development of its Listening and Viewing
Stations (“LVS”). Under a non-disclosure agreement with the Company,
Fullplay was obligated to keep confidential the Company’s proprietary
information relating to the LVS and not make use whatsoever at any
time of such proprietary information except for purposes related to
Fullplay’s contractual obligations to develop the LVS for the Company.
On March 7, 2003, Fullplay filed a complaint against the Company
asserting breaches of two other agreements between the parties. On
March 19, 2003, Fullplay filed a voluntary petition for a Chapter 11
bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western
District of Washington. On June 24, 2003, Fullplay filed suit against 
the Company as part of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing claiming breach
of contract. The Company reached an agreement with Fullplay on 
July 18, 2003 to resolve the disputes, whereby both parties 
discontinued all legal actions without admitting or denying the 
merits of the other’s claims. 

The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that have
arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have not been finally
adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate
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disposition of these matters, it is management’s opinion, based upon 
the information available at this time, that the expected outcome of
these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material
adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition 
of the Company. 

Note 8. Leases

As more fully discussed in Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Company leases its Albany, NY distribution
center and administrative offices under three capital lease arrangements
with its Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder. The Company
also has a capital lease for its Warehouse Management system.

Fixed asset amounts for capital leases, which are included in the fixed
assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

January 31, February 3,
2004 2003

(in thousands) 

Buildings $ 9,342 $ 9,342
Fixtures and equipment 498 24,746

9,840 34,088

Allowances for depreciation 
and amortization (4,802) (23,504)

$ 5,038 $ 10,584

The Company leases all of its stores under operating leases, many 
of which contain renewal options, for periods ranging from five to
twenty-five years, with the majority being ten years. Most leases also
provide for payment of operating expenses and real estate taxes. 
Some also provide for additional rent based on a percentage of sales.

Net rental expense was as follows: 

Fiscal Year 
2003 2002 2001

(in thousands)

Minimum rentals $118,392 $118,256 $121,634
Contingent rentals 1,279 1,297 1,911

$119,671 $ 119,553 $123,545

Future minimum rental payments required under all leases that have
initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at
January 31, 2004 are as follows:

Operating Capital
Leases Leases

(in thousands)

2004 115,780 1,957
2005 96,347 1,957
2006 81,810 1,884
2007 70,883 1,839
2008 54,612 1,839
Thereafter 118,913 12,437

Total minimum payments required $538,345 $21,913

Less: amounts representing interest 14,053

Present value of minimum lease payments 7,860
Less: current portion 395

Long-term capital lease obligations $ 7,465

Interest rates on capital leases were between 7.0% to 23.9% per annum.

Note 9. Benefit Plans

401(k) Savings Plan
The Company offers a 401(k) Savings Plan to eligible employees 
meeting certain age and service requirements. This plan permits
participants to contribute up to 20% of their salary, including bonuses,
up to the maximum allowable by Internal Revenue Service regulations.
Participants are immediately vested in their voluntary contributions
plus actual earnings thereon. Participant vesting of the Company’s
matching and profit sharing contribution is based on the years of 
service completed by the participant. Participants are fully vested upon
the completion of four years of service. All participant forfeitures of 
non-vested benefits are used to reduce the Company’s contributions in
future years. Total expense related to the Plan was $858,000, 
$900,000 and $921,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Stock Option Plans
The Company has five employee stock option plans, the 1986 Stock
Option Plan, the 1994 Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Stock Option Plan,
the 1999 Stock Option Plan and the 2002 Stock Option Plan (the
“Plans”). The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors may
grant options to acquire shares of common stock to employees of the
Company at the fair market value of the common stock on the date of
grant. Under the Plans, options generally become exercisable
commencing one year from the date of grant in increments of 25% 
per year with a maximum term of ten years. Options authorized for
issuance under the Plans totaled 14.8 million. As of January 31, 2004, 
of the options authorized for issuance under the Plans, 8.4 million have
been granted and are outstanding, 4.0 million of which were vested and
exercisable. Options available for future grants at January 31, 2004 and
February 1, 2003 were 2.7 million and 4.7 million, respectively. 
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Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
Price Range Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

$0.00-$2.67 660,978 2.1 $ 1.52 655,978 $ 1.51
2.68-5.33 2,577,139 8.6 3.54 256,289 3.97
5.34-8.00 182,500 8.1 7.44 28,750 7.43
8.01-10.67 2,360,249 7.7 8.45 696,243 8.65
10.68-13.33 2,035,950 5.0 11.27 1,827,636 11.32
13.34-16.00 436,400 5.2 15.17 436,400 15.17
16.01-18.67 191,175 4.2 17.79 191,175 17.79
18.68-24.00 2,000 4.9 23.75 2,000 23.75

Total 8,446,391 6.7 $ 7.63 4,094,471 $ 9.53
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The Company also has a stock option plan for non-employee directors
(the “1990 Plan”). Options under this plan are granted at an exercise
price determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors. Under the 1990 Plan, options generally become exercisable
commencing one year from the date of grant in increments of 25% 
per year with a maximum term of ten years. As of January 31, 2004,
there were 750,000 options authorized for issuance and 367,250
options have been granted and are outstanding, 220,000 of which 
were vested and exercisable. There are 224,651 shares of common 
stock reserved for possible future option grants under the 1990 Plan. 

In connection with the company’s merger with Camelot Music Holdings,
Inc. in April 1999, all options issued under the Camelot Outside Director
Stock Option Plan (the “Camelot Director Plan”) were converted to
Trans World options. As of January 31, 2004, there were 4,750 options
outstanding and exercisable under the Camelot Director Plan. The
Company no longer issues options under the Camelot Director Plan. 

The following table summarizes information about the stock options
outstanding under the two Director Plans at January 31, 2004:

Under the terms of the Camelot merger agreement, all options issued
under the Camelot 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Camelot Plan”) were
converted to Trans World options. The Camelot Plan provided for the
granting of either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options
to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. Vesting of the
options was originally over a four-year period with a maximum term 
of ten years. Based on the terms of the Camelot Plan, vesting was
accelerated based on the market performance of the Company’s

common stock whereby 50% of the options vested on March 13, 1998.
The remaining 50% vested on April 22, 1999 in connection with the
merger. At January 31, 2004, 57,000 options were outstanding and
exercisable. The Company stopped issuing stock options under the
Camelot Stock Option Plan as of April 22, 1999.

The following table summarizes information about the stock options
outstanding under the Plans and the Camelot Plan as of January 31, 2004:

Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
Price Range Shares Remaining Life Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

$0.00-$2.67 108,000 8.0 $ 0.21 18,000 $ 1.27
2.68-5.33 108,000 2.6 3.31 108,000 3.31
5.34-8.00 30,000 9.8 6.44 0 0
8.01-10.67 84,000 6.5 9.32 63,000 9.60
10.68-13.33 28,250 5.3 11.93 26,750 $11.98
13.34-16.00 9,000 4.2 15.12 9,000 15.12

Total 367,250 5.9 $4.98 224,750 $ 6.42
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The following tables summarize activity under the Stock Option Plans:

Employee Stock Option Plans Director Stock Option Plans

Number of Option Weighted Number of Option Weighted
Shares Subject Price Range Average Shares Subject Price Range Average

To Option Per Share Exercise Price To Option Per Share Exercise Price

Balance February 3, 2001 5,011,204 $1.21-$23.75 $9.48 289,625 $1.18-$15.12 $ 4.95
Granted 1,175,700 8.18-8.95 8.93 31,764 0.00-8.95 4.23
Exercised (160,453) 1.21-5.25 2.97 (47,139) 0.00-6.27 2.37
Canceled (569,463) 3.96-18.25 10.93 (1,500) 12.96-15.12 14.58

Balance February 2, 2002 5,456,988 $1.21-$23.75 $9.40 272,750 $1.18-$15.12 $6.09
Granted 1,518,350 2.80-8.02 7.92 33,708 0.00-8.02 3.57
Exercised (89,539) 1.21-5.00 2.23 (27,708) 0.00-6.27 2.04
Canceled (263,875) 4.33-18.33 10.72 0 0.00-0.00 0.00

Balance February 1, 2003 6,621,924 $1.21-$23.75 $ 9.11 278,750 $1.18-$15.12 $ 6.19
Granted 2,350,100 2.57-5.99 3.50 134,286 0.00-6.44 1.44
Exercised (162,457) 1.21-4.58 3.62 (36,786) 0.00-2.09 1.28
Canceled (363,176) 2.57-18.00 9.24 (9,000) 4.61-4.61 4.61

Balance January 31, 2004 8,446,391 $1.21-$23.75 $ 7.63 367,250 $0.00-$15.12 $4.98
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The per share weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted
during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $1.16, $2.32 and $2.68, respectively,
using the Black Scholes option pricing model, with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

2003 – expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 3.16%,
expected life of five years and stock volatility of 59%;

2002 – expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 3.01%,
expected life of five years and stock volatility of 60%;

2001 – expected dividend yield 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 4.40%,
expected life of five years and stock volatility of 57%.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized expenses of
$50,000, $150,000 and $150,000, respectively, for stock options issued
to non-employee directors at an exercise price below the closing stock
price on the date of grant. 

Restricted Stock Plan
Under the 1990 Restricted Stock Plan, the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors is authorized to grant awards for up to 900,000
restricted shares of Common Stock to executive officers and other key
employees of the Company. The shares are issued as restricted stock and
are held in the custody of the Company until all vesting restrictions are
satisfied. If conditions or terms under which an award is granted are not
satisfied, the shares are forfeited. Shares begin to vest under these
grants after either two or three years and are fully vested after three 
or five years, respectively, with vesting criteria that includes continuous
employment until applicable vesting dates have expired. As of January
31, 2004, a total of 325,000 shares have been granted, of which 216,000

shares had vested and 85,000 shares with an unamortized unearned
compensation balance of $593,000, had been forfeited. Unearned
compensation is recorded at the date of award, based on the market
value of the shares, and is included as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity and is amortized over the applicable vesting period.
The amount amortized to expense in 2003, 2002 and 2001, net of the
impact of forfeitures, was approximately $93,000, $164,000 and
$128,000, respectively. As of January 31, 2004, outstanding awards and
shares available for grant totaled 24,000 and 660,000 respectively.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for certain executive officers of the Company.
The SERP, which is unfunded, provides eligible executives defined
pension benefits that supplement benefits under other retirement
arrangements. The annual benefit amount is based on salary at the 
time of retirement and number of years of service. The Company
accounts for the SERP in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, net
periodic pension costs recognized under the plan totaled approximately
$1,208,000, $1,084,000 and $488,000, respectively. The accumulated
benefit obligation for the SERP, which is included in accrued expenses
and other in the consolidated balance sheets, was approximately 
$7.6 million and $6.4 million at January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003,
respectively. In addition, an intangible asset, which is included in other
assets in the consolidated balance sheets, to reflect the excess of the
accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of plan assets, net 
of accrued pension costs, of approximately $3.2 million was recorded 
at January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003.



37

The following is a summary of the Company’s defined benefit plan
funded status as of the most recent actuarial calculations:

Obligation and Funded Status:

January 31, February 1,
2004 2003

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 9,398 $ 8,384
Service cost 215 115
Interest cost 610 587
Plan amendment (501) —
Actuarial loss 508 338 
Benefits paid (44) (35)

Benefit obligation at end of year $10,186 $ 9,389

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — —

Reconciliation of Funded Status:
Funded status (10,186) (9,389)
Unrecognized prior service cost 4,426 5,310
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,420 912

Net amount recognized $(4,340) $(3,167)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

January 31, February 1,
2004 2003

Accrued pension liability, including
additional minimum liability $ (7,586) $(6,381)

Intangible assets 3,246 3,214

Net amount recognized $(4,340) $(3,167)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the SERP was $7,595 and 
$6,389 at January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, respectively, 
which exceeds plan assets ($0).

Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost:
Fiscal Year

2003 2002 2001

Service cost $ 216 $ 115 $ 15
Interest cost 610 587 306
Amortization of prior service cost 382 382 167

Net periodic pension cost $1,208 $1,084 $ 488

Assumptions:
Fiscal Year

2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumptions 
used to determine benefit 
obligation:

Discount rate 6.00% 6.50% 7.00%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Measurement date Nov. 1, 2003 Nov. 1, 2002 Nov. 1, 2001

Fiscal Year
2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average 
assumptions used to 
determine net periodic 
pension cost:

Discount rate 6.50% 7.00% 7.75%
Salary increase rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

The Company expects to make $35,000 in benefit payments during
fiscal year 2004.

Note 10. Shareholders’ Equity

During 2003, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan
authorizing the purchase of up to 10 million shares of the Company’s
common stock. As of January 31, 2004, the Company had purchased 
3.0 million shares under this plan, at a total cost of $17.0 million. In
fiscal 2000, the Board of Directors had approved a stock repurchase
plan authorizing the purchase of up to 15.0 million shares of the
Company’s common stock. The Company completed the purchase 
of the 15.0 million shares in fiscal 2002 at a total cost of $128.7 million.
As of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003 the Company held
18,147,291 and 15,105,432 shares, respectively, in treasury stock. 

Note 11. Related Party Transactions

The Company leases its 168,400 square foot distribution center/office
facility in Albany, New York from Robert J. Higgins, its Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder, under three capital
leases that expire in the year 2015. The original distribution
center/office facility was constructed in 1985. 

Under the three capital leases, dated April 1, 1985, November 1, 1989 
and September 1, 1998 (the “Leases”), the Company paid Mr. Higgins 
an annual rent of $1.8 million in 2003, $1.8 million in 2002 and 
$1.7 million in 2001. Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, 
every two years, rental payments will increase in accordance with the
biennial increase in the Consumer Price Index. Under the terms of 
the lease agreements, the Company is responsible for property taxes,
insurance and other operating costs with respect to the premises. 
Mr. Higgins’ obligation for principal and interest on his underlying
indebtedness relating to the real property is approximately $1.1 million
per year. None of the leases contains any real property purchase option
at the expiration of its term.

The Company leases one of its retail stores from Mr. Higgins under a
long-term operating lease. Annual rental payments under this lease
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were $40,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001. Under the terms of the lease,
the Company pays property taxes, maintenance and a contingent rental
if a specified sales level is achieved. During 2002, Mr. Higgins sold a
store location which had been previously leased by the Company. 
Prior to the sale, the Company made rental payments of $20,000 and
$35,000 in 2002 and 2001 respectively. Total additional charges for
both store locations, including contingent rent, were approximately
$4,600, $8,000 and $11,100 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 

The Company regularly utilizes privately chartered aircraft owned 
or partially owned by Mr. Higgins. Under an unwritten agreement 
with Quail Aero Services of Syracuse, Inc., a corporation in which 
Mr. Higgins holds a 47.5% share, the Company paid $60,000, $70,000
and $70,000 for chartered aircraft services in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Crystal Jet, 
a corporation wholly-owned by Mr. Higgins. Payments to Crystal Jet
aggregated $13,000, $20,000 and $91,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The Company also charters an aircraft from Richmor
Aviation, an unaffiliated corporation that leases an aircraft owned by 
Mr. Higgins. Payments to Richmor Aviation in 2003, 2002 and 2001
were $235,000, $209,000 and $289,000, respectively. The Company
believes that the charter rates and terms are as favorable to the Company
as those generally available to it from other commercial charters.

During 2000, the Company made loans aggregating $443,000 and
$258,000 to John J. Sullivan, the Company’s Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer, and Bruce J. Eisenberg, the Company’s
Executive Vice President – Real Estate, respectively. Interest rate on
these demand loans is the Federal short term rate in effect under section
1274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code, for the period for which the
amount of interest is being determined, compounded semi-annually.
The loans were made in connection with income taxes due on the
vesting of restricted stock. The full principal amount of the loans was
outstanding as of January 31, 2004. During the first half of 2002, the
Company made interest free loans totaling $100,000 to Fred L. Fox, 
the Company’s Executive Vice President – Merchandising and
Marketing. The loan was made in connection with relocation. 
$75,000 of the loan was outstanding as of January 31, 2004 and 
will be repaid in May 2004.  

Michael Solow, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, 
is a partner of the law firm Kaye Scholer LLP, which rendered legal
services to the Company in 2003, 2002 and 2001 for which the Company
incurred fees of $202,000, $161,000 and $552,000 respectively. 

The Company adopted a new method of accounting for cooperative
advertising and certain other vendor allowances effective from the
beginning of fiscal 2002 in accordance with EITF No. 02-16, resulting
in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13.7 million, net of income taxes of
$8.9 million, which was classified as a cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle. For additional discussion regarding the charge,
refer to Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
The Company restated its results for the first three quarters of the 
year ended February 1, 2003 in accordance with the new guidance. 
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Note 12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Fiscal 2003 Quarter Ended

2003 1/31/04 11/1/03 8/2/03 5/3/03

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,330,626 $541,972 $268,506 $246,746 $273,402
Gross profit 487,900 197,485 96,307 96,537 97,571
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain 18,728 34,829 (8,103) (2,913) (5,085)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill,

net of income taxes 4,339 2,148 2,191 — —

Net income (loss) $ 23,067 $ 36,977 $ (5,912) $ (2,913) $ (5,085)

Basic earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 0.50 $ 0.96 $ (0.22) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill,

net of income taxes $ 0.12 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 — —

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.62 $ 1.02 $ (0.16) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share before extraordinary gain $ 0.49 $ 0.93 $ (0.22) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
Extraordinary gain – unallocated negative goodwill,

net of income taxes $ 0.11 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 — —

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.60 $ 0.99 $ (0.16) $ (0.08) $ (0.13)
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Fiscal 2002 Quarter Ended
2002 2/1/03 11/2/02 8/3/02 5/4/02

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales $1,281,869 $483,689 $ 251,171 $267,530 $279,479
Gross profit as restated 466,798 173,473 91,097 98,414 103,814
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle as reported — — (14,059) (6,445) (6,332)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — (701) (558) 1,142
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle as restated $ (31,786) $ (4,833) $(14,760) $ (7,003) $ (5,190)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 

net of income taxes (13,684) — — — (13,684)

Net loss as restated $ (45,470) $ (4,833) $(14,760) $ (7,003) $ (18,874)

Basic loss per share, as reported — — $ (0.35) $ (0.16) $ (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 

net of income taxes — — — — $ (0.34)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes — — $ (0.02) $ (0.01) $ 0.03

Basic loss per share, as restated $ (1.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.37) $ (0.17) $ (0.47)

Diluted loss per share, as reported — — $ (0.35) $ (0.16) $ (0.16)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 

net of income taxes — — — — $ (0.34)
Effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes — — $ (0.02) $ (0.01) 0.03

Diluted loss per share, as restated $ (1.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.37) $ (0.17) $ (0.47)
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Trans World Entertainment Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries
as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended January 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Trans World Entertainment Corporation and subsidiaries as of January 31, 2004 and February 1, 2003, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended January 31, 2004, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company changed its methods of accounting for
goodwill and vendor allowances, respectively, effective February 3, 2002. 

Albany, New York
March 19, 2004

Independent Auditors’ Report
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